UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
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COUNT ONE

The Grand Jury charges:

1. On or about June 30, 2009, in the Southern District of
New York, JAMAL BRISSETT, a/k/a “Trigger,” the defendant,
willfully and knowingly, during and in relation to a drug
trafficking crime for which he may be prosecuted in a court of
the United States, and during and in relation to a Hobbs Act
robbery in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1951, did use and carry a firearm, and, in furtherance of such
crimes, did possess a firearm, and in the course of those crimes
did cause the death of a person through the use of a firearm,
which killing is murder as defined in Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1111(a), to wit, BRISSETT shot and killed Leshaun

Gordon in the vicinity of Mickle Avenue and Chester



Street in the Bronx, New York.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924 (j) (1) and 2.)

COUNT TWO

The Grand Jury further charges:

2. On or about July 1, 2009, in the Southern District of
New York, JAMAL BRISSETT, a/k/a “Trigger,” the defendant, and
others known and unknown, did knowingly and intentionally use
fire to commit one or more felonies prosecutable in a court of
the United States, to wit, BRISSETT willfully caused the burning
of the car in which the murder charged in Count One occurred,
and did thereby obstrucf justice, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sectionsg 1512 (c) and 1519.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 844 (h) and 2.)
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